
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

Standards Committee 

 
 
MONDAY, 5TH MARCH, 2007 at 19:30 HRS - CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH ROAD, WOOD 
GREEN, N22 8LE. 
 
 
MEMBERS: Edge, Egan, GMMH Rahman Khan, Kober, Lister, Mughai, Williams and 

Winskill. 
 
 
INDEPENDENT 
MEMBERS: 

Ms I. Francis (Chair), Mr R. Lovegrove, Ms C. Sykes and Mr N. Weber. 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    
 
2. URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 The Chair will consider the admission of any late items of urgent business. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 A member with a personal interest in a matter who attends a meeting of the authority 

at which the matter is considered must disclose to that meeting the existence and 
nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the 
interest becomes apparent. 
 
A member with a personal interest in a matter also has a prejudicial interest in that 
matter if the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the 
relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice the 
member's judgment of the public interest. 
 
 

4. MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING  (PAGES 1 - 4)  
 



 

2 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meetings of the Standards Committee held on 
4th September 2006. 
 

5. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS    
 
6. MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT ON REFERRALS RECEIVED FROM THE 

STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND    
 
 To consider any referrals received from the Standards Board for England. 

 
7. STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND BULLETIN  (PAGES 5 - 12)  
 
 The most recent bulletin from the Standards Board for England. 

 
8. CONSULTATION PAPER ON AMENDMENTS TO THE MODEL CODE OF 

CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS  (PAGES 13 - 56)  
 
 (Report of the Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer)  This report provides 

details of the proposed changes to the code of conduct for       Councillors  and 
recommends responses to the Government's consultation on the proposed changes.  
A copy has been sent to all members with an invitation to attend the Standards 
Committee and join the discussion if they wish. 
 
 

9. REGISTER OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY    
 
 The Register of Gifts and Hospitality is available on the Council’s website at: 

http://www.haringey.gov.uk/index/council/how_the_council_works/standardscommitte
e/registerofinterests.htm 
 
 

10. NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 To consider any items of business admitted under item 2 above. 

 
11. DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS    
 
 Dates for the next municipal year will be published in the Council’s annual calendar, 

to be agreed at the meeting of Full Council meeting of 21 May 2007.  
 
Members views are sought as to whether future meetings of the Standards 
Committee should commence at 7pm. 
 
 
 

 



 

3 

 
Yuniea Semambo 
Head of Member Services  
5th Floor 
River Park House  
225 High Road  
Wood Green  
London N22 8HQ 
 

Jeremy Williams 
Principal Committee Co-Ordinator 
London Borough of Haringey 
Tel: 020 8489 2919 
Fax: 020 8489 2660 
Email: jeremy.williams@haringey.gov.uk 
 
23 February 2007 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2006 

MEMBERS: Councillors Edge, Egan, Khan, Lister, Williams, Winskill 
 

 
INDEPENDENT 
MEMBERS: 

Ms I. Francis (Chair), Mr R. Lovegrove and Ms C. Sykes. 

 
Apologies Mr N. Weber (Vice Chair) 

 
 
 

MINUTE 
NO. 

 
SUBJECT/DECISION 

 
STCO14. 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 Apologies for absence were received from Mr Nicholas Weber. 
 

STCO15. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 

 There was no such business. 
 

STCO16. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 There were no such declarations. 
 

STCO17. 
 

MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING 

 Matters arising: 
 
Members agreed the following alterations to the minutes of the meeting of 26 
June 2006: 

 
- That the attendance list should be modified to read as follows: 

 
MEMBERS: Councillors Egan, Khan, Kober, Lister, Williams, Winskill 
 
INDEPENDENT MEMBERS: Ms I Francis (Chair), Mr R Lovegrove, Ms C 
Sykes 
 
APOLOGIES: Mr N Weber (Vice Chair), Councillors Edge, Mughal 

 
- Minute STC006: that ‘Doctor’ be deleted and be replaced with ‘Dr.’ 

 
- Minute STC010: that we delete Resolution 2: “That the fee given for next 

year’s Mayor Making be more approximate than the £14.65 average 
given for this year. 

 
- Minute STC010: that we delete the apostrophe in the minute title, making 

Standard’s read ‘Standards’ 
 

- That the second resolution of minute STC010 be deleted.  After 
discussion, Members agreed to ask the Monitoring Officer to seek 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2006 

 

clarification on the provision of advice under the Code of Conduct. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the minutes of the Standards Committee meeting held on 26 
June 2006 be confirmed and signed as an accurate record, 
subject to the amendments specified above. 

 
2. That the Monitoring Officer seek guidance from other Local 

Authorities and the Standards Board for England on the provision 
of advice concerning the determination of the value of hospitality 
including Council corporate events, under the Code of Conduct. 

 
STCO18. 
 

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 The Chair was pleased to announce to the committee that the Standards 
Committee report up to Council was noted at the Full Council meeting of 17 July 
2006. 
 

STCO19. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT ON REFERRALS RECEIVED FROM 
THE STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND 

 The Monitoring Officer had received no referrals from the Standards Board for 
England. 
 

STCO20. 
 

ETHICAL GOVERNANCE REPORT AND ACTION PLAN 

 The committee received this report to inform it of the outcome of the Ethical 
Governance Audit carried out by the Audit Commission, and the draft action 
plan for implementation.   
 
It was noted that there had been significant improvements in the Council’s 
arrangements for promoting Ethical Governance over the previous 2 years, and 
that the recommendations contained within the report were in many cases a 
continuation of work already underway. 
 
Members noted that those individuals named on the Action Plan were aware of 
their responsibilities, and that progress was being made.  The Council’s Senior 
Management Team was to act as a project board to drive the plan forward, 
although the Standards Committee retained overall responsibility for it. 
 
Members noted that the report’s call for the Standards Committee report to 
Annual Council to have a wider ethical remit, and sought clarification as to this 
recommendation’s effect on the status of the committee, The Deputy Monitoring 
Officer explained that the action plan incorporated in large measure the wider 
ethical remit that was identified by the report.   Concerns were also raised over 
the vague nature of some of the recommendations within in the report.  The 
Deputy Monitoring Officer agreed to seek clarification from the Audit 
Commission, and also investigate examples of implementation from other 
Councils. 
 
In terms of recommendation 9, dealing with Member development, the 

Page 2



MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2006 

 

committee noted that it was currently the responsibility of Members to ask for 
any specific training they felt they needed. 
 
It was noted that a report on implementation was to go to a decision-making 
body in the coming months, and that the committee should receive a report on 
progress at the next meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the report be noted. 
 
2. That the Monitoring Officer ask for clarification on Council action with 

regards to the decisions from the Audit Commission, and also 
investigate examples of work by other Councils.  

 
3. That the committee receive a report on the progress of the action plan 

at its next meeting in December. 
 

STCO21. 
 

TRAINING 

 Further to discussion at the previous meeting, Members agreed that the next 
component of their training was to be a mock hearing. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Monitoring Officer begin preparations for holding a Mock 
Hearing for Members, prior to the December meeting of this committee. 

 
2. That this hearing take place on an evening. 

 
STCO22. 
 

REGISTER OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

 It was noted that the up to date Register of Gifts and Hospitality was available 
on the Council’s website at 
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/index/council/how_the_council_works/standardsco
mmittee.htm .  The Register was updated each time a new entry was received. 
 

STCO23. 
 

THE STANDARDS BOARD FOR ENGLAND 

 Members were requested to appoint a delegate to the Standards Board for 
England ‘Fifth Annual Assembly of Standards Committees’, to be held on 16-17 
October 2006 at The International Conference Centre, Birmingham. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That those Members not present be e-mailed and invited to attend the 
Conference. 

 
 

STCO24. 
 

NEW ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

 There were no such business. 

Page 3



MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2006 

 

 
STCO25. 
 

DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS 

 Future meetings of the committee were due to be held at the following dates 
and times: 
 

- 4 December 2006, 7:30pm 
- 5 March 2007, 7:30pm 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IRENE FRANCIS 
 
Chair 
 
 

Page 4



b
u

ll
e

ti
n

Is
s
u
e
3
2

|
F
e
b
ru

a
ry

2
0
0
7

|
w
w
w
.s
ta
n
d
a
rd

s
b
o
a
rd

.c
o
.u
k
/p
u
b
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s

te
l:

0
8
4
5
0
7
8
8
1
8
1

|
e
m
a
il
:
b
u
ll
e
ti
n
@

s
ta
n
d
a
rd

s
b
o
a
rd

.c
o
.u
k

Contents

1 Consultation on the
Code of Conduct

3 The Local Government
and Public Involvement in
Health Bill

3 Directions

4 The revised Code of
Conduct — acceptance of
office

5 Annual Assembly 2007

6 Guidance programme
for 2007

7 On the road with the
Standards Board

8 After Livingstone —
bringing your office or
authority into disrepute

8 Seeking volunteers

Confidence in local democracy

Welcome to the February issue of the bulletin.

This is a timely edition of the bulletin — as we go to print

we are in the middle of the government's consultation

period on the wording of the revised Code of Conduct,

and the Local Government and Public Involvement in

Health Bill is going through the committee stage in the

House of Commons. You will find articles on both of

these issues in the pages that follow.

If the revised Code is to be introduced in time for the

local elections in May, there is much work to do. We

know that monitoring officers and members are keen to

receive new guidance at the earliest opportunity, and

work is well underway to make sure that it is ready to be

released as soon as the new Code is published.

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health

Bill includes all the necessary provisions for a more

locally-based conduct regime, with more responsibilities

for standards committees and the Standards Board acting

as a light touch regulator. It is anticipated that these

arrangements will be introduced in April 2008. If they are

to operate effectively from the outset, it is important that

we start to work with authorities as soon as possible to

develop examples of good practice. These can then be

shared across all standards committees. 

You will find an invitation in this issue of the bulletin for

authorities that are interested in being involved in pilot

work on the operation of the local filter, joint working or

performance monitoring. The Standards Board is looking

forward to working with a range of standards committees

to develop robust arrangements, and to help ensure that

the new devolved system of dealing with allegations has

the confidence of members, officers and the public.

David Prince, Chief Executive

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has

started its consultation process on amendments to the Model Code of

Conduct. The consultation paper can be found in the consultation section of

DCLG's website at www.communities.gov.uk/.

The closing date for responses is 9 March 2007, so authorities wishing to

submit views will need to act quickly.

The Standards Board for England welcomes the proposed changes and the

support they will give to members in their community advocacy role. We will

Consultation on the Code of Conduct

Agenda Item 7Page 5



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

2

continue to work with government and stakeholders

as the consultation process continues and will be

encouraging early implementation of the revised

Code.

“It is important that the opportunity

to have a clear, workable Code of

Conduct — one that helps maintain

high standards of conduct and

supports democratic debate — is

not lost.”

The revised Code implements almost all of the

headline recommendations the Standards Board

made to ministers following an extensive

consultation with local government. 

These are summarised as follows:

The definition of personal interest has been

changed to provide a more locally-based focus,

to ensure that interests shared with a

substantial number of other residents do not

need to be declared.

A new category of 'public service interest' has

been introduced. This will make requirements

less onerous for dual-hatted members and

those members appointed or nominated by the

authority to outside bodies.

The unlawful discrimination provision is to be

replaced by a duty that members should not do

anything that would seriously prejudice their

authority's statutory duties in regard to equality.

This will allow action to be taken on some

discrimination issues that have previously been

outside the scope of the Code.

Bullying is specifically referred to in the Code

and its definition will be clarified by our

published guidance.

The 'whistleblowing' duty to report breaches by

other members has been removed.

Members will be able to disclose confidential

information in the public interest (with Standards

Board guidance on a public interest test).

Certain behaviour outside of official duties will

be regulated but it will be limited to unlawful

activities (although implementation of this part of

the Code will have to wait until the Local

Government and Public Involvement in Health

Bill is enacted).

Prohibiting the intimidation of any person

involved in an investigation, including the

complainant, witnesses and officers of the

authority.

The consultation paper also proposes changes to

the rules relating to participation in meetings by

members who have a prejudicial interest. With the

consent of a meeting, those members will be

allowed to make representations and answer

questions on the matter before withdrawing from

the room. This will particularly benefit members

that may, for example, wish to make

representations to a planning committee on their

own planning application.

It is proposed that the current four model Codes

will be combined into one consolidated Code.

Certain provisions, such as those relating to

overview and scrutiny, will not apply to authorities

that do not operate executive arrangements.

The consultation paper is silent on the timing and

implementation of the revised Code of Conduct

following consultation, although the Standards

Board understands that the revised Code is

intended to be tabled in Parliament later in March,

and that authorities will then have six months from

May 2007 to adopt it.

The Standards Board for England would hope that

authorities are in a position to adopt the revised

Code of Conduct at their annual meeting in May. In

order to achieve this, monitoring officers will need

to consider the timetable that will need to be

followed within their authority both for the adoption

of the Code of Conduct and for training for

members.

We would also encourage monitoring officers to

work with their parish clerks to ensure adoption of

the revised Code of Conduct by parish and town

councils at an early opportunity. This should help to

minimise any confusion that may arise by having

two different Codes of Conduct applying within

their area. 

The Standards Board for England will be

responding to the consultation paper and we would

encourage other authorities to do so as well. 

It is important that the opportunity to have a clear,

workable Code of Conduct — one that helps

maintain high standards of conduct and supports

democratic debate — is not lost.

Page 6



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

3

Directions

Ethical standards officers have been able to issue

directions to help resolve local problems since

November 2004, when the regulations for local

determinations were amended. Since April 2006,

36 directions have been issued.

Directions can be a more useful way of tackling

complaints in cases where problems within a

council may be the cause of a councillor's alleged

misconduct. In such cases, an ethical standards

officer may decide that a direction may be more

appropriate than an investigation. At the moment,

only an ethical standards officer has power to

issue a direction

Once a case has been referred for investigation,

the ethical standards officer will try to identify any

patterns of conduct or underlying issues that would

be more appropriately dealt with by a direction

rather than an investigation as soon as possible. If

a monitoring officer has already dealt with previous

complaints about the council, they will have an

insight into whether an investigation will resolve

the issues or make them worse. 

Examples of where a direction may be more

appropriate than an investigation include:

A standards committee will be able to refer a

report to the Adjudication Panel for England if it

considers that the sanctions available to it are

insufficient. The sanctions available to the

Adjudication Panel for England are also to be

widened to include lower level sanctions. This

will allow it to deal with any reports that are

referred to it. 

Once the Bill receives royal assent, the Secretary

of State will need to make a range of regulations.

This will include the use of the Standards Board's

power to suspend standards committees, the

operation of joint working arrangements, and the

composition of sub-committees. 

The Standards Board will produce statutory

guidance on a range of issues such as how the

assessment of investigations should be

undertaken. This will include criteria for referring an

allegation for investigation and guidance on joint

working arrangements.

The Local Government and Public Involvement in

Health Bill fulfils the government's commitment to

put a framework in place which allows local

standards committees to deal with all aspects of

the receipt and determination of allegations that a

member has breached the Code of Conduct.

The Bill allows the Standards Board for England to

undertake the strategic regulator role that we have

always considered should be our primary function.

It also responds to the Collins' judgement, making

clear the government's view that some aspects of

members' conduct that is undertaken in a private

capacity should be capable of Code of Conduct

regulation.

A brief summary of the main provisions in the Bill

relating to standards is provided below.

Standards committees will be responsible for

the receipt of allegations and determining

whether they should be investigated. If they are

to be investigated, it needs to be decided

whether it will be undertaken by the monitoring

officer or the Standards Board.

Standards committees must be chaired by an

independent member.

There will be a duty on standards committees to

provide periodic information to the Standards

Board about the allegations the standards

committee has received and how it has dealt

with them.

The Code of Conduct will cover unlawful

actions undertaken at any time.

The Secretary of State will make regulations for

the circumstances in which the Standards

Board can suspend a standards committee from

deciding whether allegations should be

investigated.

Standards committees will be allowed to

undertake joint working for some or all of their

responsibilities.

There will be a general power to allow the

creation of sub-committees to deal with any of

the functions of a standards committee

The provisions regarding confidentiality of

reports are to be relaxed to allow information to

be shared with standards committees.

The Local Government and Public

Involvement in Health Bill

Page 7



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

4

The planned implementation of the revised Code of

Conduct later this year has raised the issue of

whether members who sign a declaration of

acceptance of office when they are elected will

have to sign another declaration of acceptance of

office when the revised Code is adopted by their

authority.

The Standards Board does not believe that this is

necessary:  Section 52(2) of the Local Government

Act 2000 says that the declaration may include an

undertaking by the member to observe the

authority's Code of Conduct "for the time being

under section 51".

The Local Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of

Office) Order 2001 [SI2001/3941] provides the

form of declaration that members must sign when

they are elected. This says that:

"I undertake to observe the code as to the conduct

which is expected of members of [insert name of

authority]."

Both of these provisions appear to refer to being

bound by whichever Code is in force at the

authority.

Taken together we consider these provisions to

mean that the member is bound by whichever

Code currently applies at the authority and,

therefore, there is no need to sign another

declaration when the revised Code is adopted.

Multiple allegations concerning members of a

parish council (including those not referred for

investigation). The concern here is that allegations

would continue to be made unless some

constructive steps were taken to deal with the

cause of the problem.

Past investigations were ineffective in

addressing persistent problems. 

Personal conflict/communication problems

between members — tit for tat behaviour.  

An allegation that appears to demonstrate a

general lack of understanding of council

procedures, or of the requirements of the Code.

The ethical standards officer can direct the

monitoring officer to undertake a variety of actions

depending on the particular circumstances facing

the council, for example: 

Review procedures within the authority to make

them more robust.

Arrange mentoring, guidance or training.

Arrange mediation between councillors using a

facilitator.

Issuing a direction can present its own difficulties,

especially at the time when the parties are

informed of the proposals. Ethical standards

officers often receive an initially negative response

to a proposed direction, as the parties involved are

often reluctant to consider a direction as a way of

resolving disputes. The complainant may want the

complaint investigated and the subject member

may want to be vindicated.

We will give as much support as possible to a

monitoring officer in carrying out a direction. Where

it is a parish issue, it is often helpful to obtain the

assistance of the local County Association of Local

Councils, and to explore what assistance may be

available from the standards committee. 

If an allegation is already being investigated locally

and there are subsequent allegations which

indicate a direction may be more appropriate, or if

the monitoring officer raises concerns about the

impact of an investigation on the council and

considers a direction more appropriate, the

monitoring officer may ask to refer the case back

to the ethical standards officer. This is so that a

direction may be considered. Monitoring officers

must inform the ethical standards officer about the

action they have taken in response to the direction. 

The ethical standards officer may, if unhappy with

the report, require the monitoring officer to publish

a statement giving details of the direction and

reasons for failing to implement it. For example, it

may be necessary to publicise the fact that a

member is reluctant to take part in a process that

has been devised to improve the functioning of the

council. If the monitoring officer indicates that the

aims of the direction have been met, and the

ethical standards officer is satisfied that the

members have complied with the direction, the

matter will be closed. 

You can find examples of when directions have

been used in the Case Review number four,

available from our website at

www.standardsboard.co.uk

The revised Code of Conduct —

acceptance of office

Page 8



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

5

not referred (81%)

referred (19%)

councillors (31%)

council officers (5%)

members of

public (62%)

other (2%)
bringing authority into
disrepute (24%)

other (14%)

failure to register a financial
interest (2%)

failure to disclose a 
personal interest (12%)

prejudicial interest (27%)

failure to treat others with
respect (11%)

using position to confer or
secure an advantage or
disadvantage (10%)

no evidence of a breach (35%)

referred to monitoring officer

for local determination (4%)

no further action (59%)

referred to the Adjudication

Panel for England (2%)

Source of allegations received

Allegations referred for investigation

Nature of allegations referred for investigation

Final findings

The Standards Board for England received

2,498 allegations between 1 April and 31

December 2006, compared to 2,949 during the

same period in 2005.

The following charts show referral and

investigation statistics during the above dates in

2006.

county council (4%)

district council (26%)

unitary council (10%)

London borough (2%)

metropolitan (7%)

parish/

town

council (50%)

other (1%)

Authority of subject member in allegations

referred for investigation

Referral and investigation statistics

Down to Detail — making local regulation work is

the sixth Annual Assembly of Standards

Committees, to be held on 15-16 October 2007 at

the International Convention Centre in Birmingham.

With the move to a local filter system for

complaints fast approaching, the conference will

set out how to put this into action and achieve

greater consistency and effectiveness in local

regulation.

Down to Detail will also explore the vital issues

raised by the revised Code of Conduct, and will

feature practical workshops and plenaries focusing

on understanding the key changes.

Conference topics include:

a step-by-step guide to the local filter process,

including new reporting requirements

managing referrals, investigations, hearings and

sanctions

joint working 

mediation

an introductory overview of the revised Code 

confident communications 

engaging leaders

The Annual Assembly is the leading conference on

issues concerning standards committees. Booking

details will be sent to all authorities in March.

Annual Assembly 2007

Page 9



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

6

Of all cases referred since November 2004 for local investigation we have received a total of 418

reports — please see below for a statistical breakdown of these cases.  

(NB: for the period 1 April — 31 December 2006, ethical standards officers referred 252 cases for local

investigation - equivalent to 52% of all cases referred for investigation.)

Monitoring officers’ recommendations 

following local investigations

Standards Committee hearings

Standards committee determinations

no breach 

(204 reports) breach

(214 reports)

no breach 

(186 reports) breach

(163 reports)

no sanction – 54 

censure – 51

apology – 22 

training – 53 

mediation – 1 

one month suspension – 8

two-week suspension – 2 

six-week suspension – 3

two-month suspension – 7 

three-month suspension – 11  

Local investigation statistics

Guidance programme for 2007 

In bulletin 31 we discussed the Standards

Board's commitment to producing guidance and

training materials to help monitoring officers and

standards committees implement the revised

Code of Conduct. We are now working on the

specific details of our Code guidance

programme for 2007.

This will include a new DVD to help local

authorities train members. The DVD will explain

the revisions to the Code using dramatised

scenarios to illustrate particular paragraphs, and

we expect to be able to release it soon after the

revised Code comes into force.

We are also planning to publish guidance in

written form similar to our current range. This will 

include a general guide to the revised Code and

a detailed guide to the declaration of interest

paragraphs. We expect to publish these two

publications, along with a simple guide, on our

website as soon as the Code comes into force.

The guidance will be available in booklet form

soon afterwards and every authority covered by

the Code will receive copies.

This year we will also publish a fifth Case

Review, which will be similar to our Code Q&A

Case Review Volume 1. This is a paragraph-by-

paragraph consideration of the code illustrated

by past cases. As such, it will contain specific

guidance on the new bullying paragraph

expected to be included in the revised Code.

Page 10



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

7

The only sections of the Code of Conduct which

apply to a member when not acting in an official

capacity are the requirement not to bring the office

or authority into disrepute and the requirement not

to misuse their position to confer an advantage or

disadvantage on yourself or any other person.

These also apply "in any other circumstances".

The recent High Court decision in the case of

Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England

changes the interpretation of what these words

mean, making them more restrictive. 

The court said that the circumstances are limited to

situations when a member is performing his or her

functions or purporting to use their status as a

councillor.

There appear to be three main principles that need

to be present for the behaviour under consideration

to amount to a breach of the Code.

A member must have used or sought to use

their status as a member of the council. This is

a "using one's position" test.

The use of the status must be of a type that is

capable of amounting to a failure to comply with

the Code (for example: behaviour that amounts

to treating others with disrespect; bullying; use

of confidential information; and so on). This is a

breach of Code test.

The disrepute must attach to the office or the

authority and damage it, as opposed to simply

damaging the member's reputation. This is a

damage to reputation test.

A case tribunal or standards committee will need to

be persuaded that the misconduct can damage the

reputation of the member's office or authority, not

just the reputation of the individual concerned. 

Certain kinds of conduct (for example drink driving

or petty theft) may damage the reputation of an

individual but will rarely be capable of damaging

the reputation of the office of councillor or the

reputation of the authority.

Establishing when disrepute attaches to the office

or council is not easy because the High Court gave

no indication of what tests to apply. 

Here are some of the possible factors:

We will be hosting a series of 11 roadshows

across the country in June 2007. The focus will

be on the revised Code of Conduct and

preparing for the proposed introduction of the

local filter system for complaints in 2008.

The roadshows will offer an opportunity to

discuss any issues that have arisen since the

implementation of the revised Code and any

concerns about local preparation for dealing

with complaints.

As in previous years, the roadshows will take

the format of presentations and discussions,

and delegates will be encouraged to participate

in question and answer sessions. Board

members and the chief executive will also be

on hand to answer any queries.

Invitations have already been sent out to local

authorities as well as the parks, police,

transport and fire authorities that are also

covered by the Code. The roadshows will be

mainly aimed at monitoring officers and

members from local standards committees. 

Previous roadshows have offered the

Standards Board an excellent opportunity to

engage with delegates, answer queries, and

offer guidance and support. They also offer

delegates the chance to network informally

with colleagues from the local area. 

Dates and venues of the roadshows are:

Manchester – 6 June

York – 7 June

Newcastle – 12 June

Nottingham – 13 June

Birmingham – 14 June

Truro – 19 June

Exeter – 20 June

Winchester – 21 June

Swindon – 26 June

Norwich – 27 June

London – 28 June

For more information please contact our event

managers, Benedict Business Resources, on

01483 205432.

On the road with the Standards Board After Livingstone — bringing your office or

authority into disrepute

Page 11



T
h
e

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 B

o
a

rd
fo

r 
E

n
g
la

n
d

b
u

ll
e

ti
n

: 
is

s
u

e
 3

2

8

Prejudicing the public interest for private gain

(for example a councillor uses their position to

obtain confidential information which they then

use to secure a personal profit).

Using or trying to use position or status as a

member of the council (for example a councillor

is in dispute with a neighbour about their

planning application and threatens to speak to

contacts who control the planning committee).

Defying important and well established rules of

the authority for private gain.

Engaging in conduct which directly and

significantly undermines the authority's

reputation as a good employer or responsible

service provider (for example sexual offences

against children committed in a village hall run

by the council of which the offender is a

member).

What is clear is that each case will need to be

dealt with on its merits. The government wants to

extend the scope of these provisions and has

made proposals to do so in the new Local

Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill,

which is discussed on page 3.

The White Paper Strong and Prosperous

Communities outlines a future ethical framework

where local government takes greater

responsibility for their ethical environments and

the Standards Board has a role as a light touch,

strategic regulator.

We are keen to work with local government to

develop the various aspects of our respective

new roles.

As such we are looking for volunteers to work

with us as pilot sites on the following topics:

Joint arrangements for standards

committees.

Operating the local filter.

Developing the Standards Board's

monitoring and auditing role (identifying

what data to collect, how to collect it and

types of intervention).

We are asking volunteers to test and comment

on the instruments and approaches we have

developed. It is likely to involve the monitoring

officer, standards committee members, and

possibly other officers such as the chief

executive. We will endeavour to ensure that

your involvement is not too resource intensive.

The work will initially take place between May

and September 2007. If you would like to be

involved, then please e-mail

gary.hickey@standardsboard.co.uk. Please also

state which of the pilots you would like to be

involved in — you can choose more than one. 

If we have a large number of volunteers it is

possible that we will not be able to include all

those authorities that wish to take part.

However, we will respond to everyone that puts

themselves forward. If you have any queries

then please contact Gary on 0207 378 5087.

Seeking volunteers

Contacts and more information

Please feel free to let us know any ideas and suggestions you may have for future issues of the

Bulletin, along with any questions or feedback. Please send comments to:

bulletin@standardsboard.co.uk

The Standards Board for England 

First floor, Cottons Centre

Cottons Lane

London SE1 2QG

More information

You can get more information on the Standards Board for England and the Code of Conduct,

including case summaries, frequently asked questions and guidance for members from our

website at www.standardsboard.co.uk

Page 12



 

 1 

     Agenda item:  
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 5th March 2007 
 

 

Report Title: Consultation Paper on Amendments to the Model Code of Conduct for 
Councillors. 
 

 
Forward Plan reference number (if applicable): N/A 
 

Report of: Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
Wards(s) affected: All 
 

Report for: Non – Key Decision. 

1. Purpose 

1.1 This report provides details of the proposed changes to the code of conduct for  
      Councillors  and recommends responses to the Government's consultation on the  
      proposed changes.  A copy has been sent to all members with an invitation to attend    

 the Standards Committee and join the discussion if they wish. 
 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 To agree a response to the consultation. 
 

 
Report Authorised by: Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 

 
Contact Officer: Davina Fiore, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring officer. 
                          Email: davina.fiore@haringey.gov.uk 
 

3. Executive Summary 

3.1 This report provides details of the proposed changes to the code of conduct for  
      Councillors  and recommends responses to the Government's consultation on the  
      proposed changes.   
 

4. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

4.1 Revised Model Code of Conduct & consultation paper. 

 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 13



 

 2 

5. Background 

  
5.1 The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) published a 

consultation paper seeking views on the draft of a proposed new model code of 
conduct for local authority members on 22 January 2007.  The closing date for 
responses is 9 March. 

  
5.2 The Government’s stated intention is “to put in place a clearer, simpler and 

more proportionate code of conduct for members of Local Authorities which 
includes changes to the rules on personal and prejudicial interests”.   

  
5.3 The Local Government Act 2000 set the ethical framework for local 

government on a statutory basis.  Section 50 of the Act enabled the Secretary 
of State to introduce a model Code of Conduct and subsequent sections 
required Councils to adopt their own code on the basis of the model.  Haringey 
Council formally adopted the model code of conduct and it is incorporated into 
the Council’s Constitution.   

  
5.4 The Government intends to bring the amended code into force in time for Local 

Authorities to adopt it at their annual meetings in May 2007.   

6. Description 

  
6.1 Circulated with this report are: 

 
1. A copy of the consultation paper,  
2. The draft model code of conduct Regulations (Annex A), and 
3. The specific questions posed by the consultation paper (Annex B). 

  
6.2 The draft Regulations involve the production of a single mandatory model 

code.  
  
6.3 The scope of the proposed new code of conduct is broadly unchanged. 

However, the draft revised code seeks to: 
 

• Reflect the recommendations of the Standards Board for England following 
their review of the current code. 

• Reflect Adjudication Panel for England and High Court decisions on 
interpretation, for example on discrimination, private capacity, disclosure in 
the public interest. 

• In certain circumstances, to allow a Member to make representations but 
not vote whilst having a prejudicial interest. 

• Improve the structure and drafting of the code.  

• Improve some definitions. 
  
6.4 The draft revised code provides a number of relaxations from the requirements 

of the current code.  In particular it: 

• removes the obligation to report allegations of failure to comply with the 
code. (The deletion of the duty on Members to report breaches by other 

Page 14



 

 3 

Member will be welcomed.  It will not, of course, prevent Members from 
reporting such breaches, but takes away the obligation to do so).    

• limits the obligation to disclose a personal interest of a family member, 
friend or person having a close personal association to those that the 
Member is aware of, or ought reasonably to be aware of.   

• creates a new category of public service interest as to membership of 
another relevant authority, public authority or body the Member is appointed 
to by the authority. 

• provides for a Member, who otherwise has a prejudicial interest, to attend a 
meeting for the purpose of making representations, answering questions, or 
giving evidence, provided the meeting agrees and subject to the Member 
withdrawing after so doing.  (A personal interest still needs to be disclosed 
by the Member.  Meetings will require careful managing to ensure such 
Members are excluded from the decision making part of the meeting).  

  
6.5  The draft revised code also imposes additional specific obligations on 

Members such as: 
 

• Not to bully any person. 

• Not to intimidate a person involved in proceedings under the code. 

• Extends the meaning of political purposes in the use of the Authority’s 
resources provision to specifically include ‘party political purposes’. 

• Extends the provision on use of the authority’s resources to include having 
regard to the Local Authority Code of Publicity.  (There is a logic to this 
otherwise breaches would not be subject to sanction under the ethical 
framework, but the Code of Publicity - published in 1986 - is in need of 
review), and  

• An extended obligation to have regard to the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.   

  
6.6 The new provisions on bullying follow a concern by the Standards Board for 

England at the level of bullying occurring within Councils.  Clear guidance will 
be needed from the Standards Board for England, given that the code does not 
clearly define bullying, in order for Members to understand what types of 
behaviour are acceptable and what go beyond the bounds of acceptability.   

  
6.7 The proposed main changes are summarised for ease of reference in 

Appendix 1.  It is assumed that many of the changes, particularly the 
relaxations, will be welcomed by Members.  The consultation questions and 
some suggested responses are set out in Appendix 2 for Members’ 
consideration. 

 

7. Omissions 

  
7.1 The opportunity to bring the application of the code and the law of bias closer 

together has not been taken in the draft. It would be helpful if there was an 
express reference in paragraph 9 of the code under the heading “Prejudicial 
interests” to the fact that a Member should not participate in decision-making, 
even if there is no prejudicial interest, if such participation is likely to give rise to 

Page 15



 

 4 

a real possibility of bias.  Such a provision would provide a direct link between 
the common law test of bias and the member code, reinforcing the principles 
which need to be applied by Members in determining whether to participate in 
decision making.  

8. Clarity needed 

  
8.1 Whilst the redraft helps to improve clarity, it would seem sensible to go one 

stage further and include all the bits dealing with ‘public service interests’ in 
a separate paragraph. – 8(2), 8(7)(a)(i), (ii) and (iii), 9(2) and 9(4)(b).  
Having different definitions for public service interest in 8(7)(a) and 9(4) is 
confusing.   

  
8.2 
 

There are a number of new phrases in the draft Code of Conduct which now 
require definition, including –  
 
a. “Close personal association” – Paragraph 7(c)(i) -this clearly extends 

beyond mere friendship, but how far?  Does “personal” in this context 
mean that it does not include work colleagues?   

 
b. “Family” – Paragraph 7(c)(i) - the current Code uses the word “relative” 

and defines “relative”.  The new Code uses “family”, but fails to define it.  
Is it the member’s household, irrespective of blood relationship?  Or is it 
blood relatives even if living separately?  What degree of separation 
takes an individual outside the scope of “family”?   

 
c. “Lobbying Organisation” – Paragraph 9(4)(b) - is it a lobbying 

organisation because it occasionally lobbies, or does it have to lobby 
Members or Local Authorities, or does it have to spend a specified 
proportion of its annual expenditure on seeking to influence public 
opinion? 

 
d. “Of a financial nature” – Paragraph 11(2) - what is it that makes an 

interest “of a financial nature”?  Is it that the Member or a friend, or an 
associated body, stands to gain or lose financially in any way, or does 
the gain have to be primarily financial, or more directly to the Member 
him or herself? 

 
e. “Philanthropic Organisation” – Paragraph 9(4)(b) - Is this the same as “a 

body directed to charitable purposes”, or does “philanthropic” extend 
beyond the charitable objects in the Charities Act 2006. 

 
f. “Relates to” – This phrase is used repeatedly throughout the new code, 

in a number of different contexts and its widespread use may create 
real problems of interpretation for the future.   

  
8.3 
 
 
 

The requirement in 8(2) only to have to disclose a public service interest 
when speaking seems strange.  Members are now accustomed to 
disclosing interests at the beginning of the meeting.  There does not seem 
to be any value gained by changing from disclosure at the beginning.  Also, 

Page 16



 

 5 

this means if the Member does not speak, there is no requirement to 
declare the public service interest.  It may seem very odd to a member of 
the public for one Member to disclose an interest and another not (because 
s/he did not speak) when both take part in the decision by voting.  From an 
evidential aspect, in a subsequent investigation, the question of whether a 
Member spoke or not will be more difficult to investigate, than whether the 
interest was declared or not. 

9. Summary and Conclusions 

  

9.1 The draft revised Code of Conduct appears to be a conscientious attempt to 
improve the present code and to resolve some of the issues which have arisen 
with it.  However, there are other issues and unresolved problem areas, not 
covered by the consultation questions, which also require comment.  These are 
set out above.     

10. Recommendations 

 
10.1 This report provides an overview of the new provisions.  Members are 

invited to consider and comment on the contents of the report, the 
consultation paper and the proposed responses to the questions posed.   

11.  Use of Appendices / Tables / Photographs 

 
Appendix 1 - Proposed main changes to the code. 
Appendix 2 - Suggested responses to the specific questions.   
Appendix 3 – Consultation paper. 

 

Page 17



 

 6 

APPENDIX 1 
 
The proposed main changes to the code are to: 

 
1. Have one consolidated code covering all authorities to replace the 4 codes 

currently in existence. 
 
2. Remove the proscription on unlawful discrimination on the grounds that only the  

courts can make a determination on that. 
 
3. Specifically proscribe bullying – about which SBE has been concerned for some 

time. 
 
4. Allow for the disclosure of confidential information where it is in the public 

interest to do so. 
 
5. Require a Member not to bring the authority into disrepute.  Offending conduct 

would extend to that performed in the Member’s private capacity provided that: 
 

a) The conduct has been subject to a successful prosecution; and 
 

b) The current Local Government & Health Bill amends sections 49 and 52  
of the Local Government Act 2000. This effectively overturns the Ken  
Livingstone decision. 

 
6. Require regard to be paid to the Government’s local authority publicity code. 
 
7. Delete the requirement to report suspected breaches of the code by other 

Members. 
 
8. Require gifts and hospitality of over £25 in value to be registered in the register 

of members’ interests.  (Currently there is a separate register for such matters). 
 
9. Require the disclosure of such gifts or hospitality at a meeting within five years 

of such registration. 
 
10. Define personal interests as including the well-being or financial position of the 

Member, family, friend or ‘any person with whom the member has a close 
personal association.  This covers a range of personal, business and 
professional associates.  A close personal association is not defined. 

 
11. Define a personal interest as one affecting the Member to a greater extent than 

the majority of his or her ward residents and thereby reduce the likelihood of 
there being a declarable interest.   

 
12. Create a ‘public service interest’, defined as membership of another local 

authority or a management or control position of a public authority or with 
reference to a body to which the Member is appointed by the Council.  A public 
service interest is a personal interest declarable if the Member speaks on an 
item in committee.   

Page 18



 

 7 

 
13. Provide that a public service interest would not be a prejudicial interest barring 

participation in debate, unless it affects the financial affairs of the body 
concerned or it relates to an approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration of that body. 

 
14. Provide that a Member with a prejudicial interest may, with the consent of the 

meeting, attend a meeting for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence but must then withdraw from the room. This will 
require careful management of the meeting.   

 
15. Proscribe the intimidation of complainants and witnesses in cases of complaint  

to the SBE or Monitoring Officer. 
 
16. Extend the exemptions where Members should not regard themselves as having  

prejudicial interests to include: 
 

a) where indemnities are being considered; 
b) the setting of council tax; 
c) where the Member is being considered for the honorary award of  

Freeman. 
 
17. Provide that Members are excluded from scrutiny committees where decisions  

are being considered of a body in which he or she took part. 
 
18. Enable a member to apply to the Monitoring Officer to obviate the need to  

register ‘sensitive Information, such as employment in certain types of scientific  
research, where it is perceived that there is a serious risk that the Member or a 
person who lives with him or her, may be subjected to violence or intimidation. 

 
19. Enable a Member not to disclose the details of that ‘sensitive information’ when 

declaring an interest in committee, although there would still be a need to 
disclose that there is a personal interest. 

Page 19



 

 8 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 
Specific Questions and Suggested Response. 
  
Q1.   Does the proposed text on the disclosure of confidential information strike 
an appropriate balance between the need to treat certain information as 
confidential, but to allow some information to be made public in defined 
circumstances when to do so would be in the public interest? 
  
The proposed amendment incorporates the requirements of Article 10(1) of the 
European Convention on Human Rights (freedom of expression).  In practice it will be 
extremely difficult for a Member to weigh up the balance of competing interests of 
preserving confidentiality on the one hand and the restricted number of cases where it 
would be defensible to disclose that information on the other.  It would be difficult to 
determine when disclosure will be “reasonable and in the public interest”. 
  
The code does not make it clear whether it is a two part test, namely that the disclosure 
must be reasonable and in the public interest and made in good faith, or whether there 
is a defence if either of these tests can be satisfied.  The paragraph also requires 
clarification so that the proscription applies solely to those areas where the Member 
received the information in his or her official capacity and not as a private individual or 
in any other capacity.   
  
Q2.   Subject to powers being available to us to refer in the code to actions by 
members in their private capacity beyond actions which are directly relevant to 
the office of the Member, is the proposed text which limits the proscription of 
activities in a Member’s private capacity to those activities which have already 
been found to be unlawful by the courts, appropriate? 
 
This suggests that the code only applies to activities in a Member’s private capacity, 
which have already been found to be unlawful by the courts.  There is a range of 
conduct which could arguably be said to bring a Member’s office into disrepute which 
falls short of conduct capable of founding a criminal conviction e.g. anti-social 
behaviour.  However by referring to a criminal offence in paragraph 4 it suggests that 
there is a high threshold of behaviour which could be countenanced before action 
under this paragraph of the code would be contemplated.   
 
Note:  The Livingstone Case has currently limited the scope of the code of conduct in a 
Member’s private capacity only to conduct where it can be established that there is a 
direct link with the Member’s office.  However, there is a provision contained in the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill, which if enacted, will make it 
clear that behaviour in a private capacity can be included within the remit of the code.   
  
Q3.   Is the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity serving 
a useful purpose?  If the Publicity Code is abolished, do consultees think some 
or all of its provisions should be promulgated in a different way, eg via guidance 
issues by local government representative bodes, or should authorities be left to 
make their own decisions in this area without any central guidance?  Should 

Page 20



 

 9 

authorities not currently subject to the Publicity Code be required to follow it., or 
should the current position with regard to them be maintained? 
 
In practice the Publicity Code is a useful tool which assists Local Authorities and 
Members in addressing sensitive issues at sensitive times, for example, in the run up to 
elections.  Whilst the provisions of the publicity code need to be reviewed, such a 
review could consider how best to assist authorities currently not subject to its remit.   
  
Q4.   Does the proposed text with regard to gifts and hospitality adequately 
combine the need for transparency as well as proportionality in making public 
information with regard to personal interests? 
 
The provisions regarding gifts and hospitality seem excessive.  In practice most 
authorities maintain a separate gift and hospitality register. To translate gifts and 
hospitality of a value of £25 into interests requiring registration and declaration seems 
unnecessarily bureaucratic and burdensome, particularly when a bunch of flowers, 
which are arguably a token of appreciation rather than an imputation of ulterior motive, 
can cost £25.  Furthermore, the requirement for disclosure of such an interest for a 
period of 5 years after registration also seems excessive (not least for Members in 
remembering that they had received such gifts or hospitality).  The £25 should be 
increased and the period reduced to, £50 and 2 years.   
 
There should also be clarification in respect of gifts and hospitality received by the 
Mayor of the Council in his/her capacity as Civic Head.  Most Local Authorities adopt a 
very sensible approach in that such gifts and hospitality are not declared under the 
code where they are received as a direct consequence of the office, but it would be 
preferable if this could be clarified beyond doubt, if not within the code itself, then by 
express guidance from the Standards Board.  In any event most gifts (beyond flowers 
and chocolates) received by the Mayor are invariably regarded as gifts to the Council 
not the individual concerned.   
  
Q5.   Does the proposed text relating to friends, family and those with a close 
personal association adequately cover the breadth of relationships which ought 
to be covered, to identify the most likely people who might benefit from 
decisions made by a Member, including family, friends, business associates and 
personal acquaintances? 
  
There has been difficulty in the existing code in Members determining who constitutes 
a friend.  This will be compounded by the new requirement to consider not only 
friendship but also close personal associations.  Very clear guidance will be required 
from the Standards Board on this, ideally with a clear test which will be easy to apply.   
 
It is always going to be difficult to describe adequately the concept that it is the close 
association between a Member and other people involved in an issue under debate 
which will give rise to the perception by onlookers of inappropriate dealing.  In that 
respect is is not clear what is added by the word ’personal’ in the phrase ‘close 
personal association’.   
 
  

Page 21



 

 10

Q6.   Would it be appropriate for new exceptions to be included in the text as 
additions to the list of items which are not to be regarded as prejudicial? 
  
Three new items have been added.  These seem sensible and to be welcomed.   
  
Q7.   Is the proposed text relaxing the rules to allow increased representation at 
meetings, including where Members attend to make representations, answer 
questions, or give evidence, appropriate? 
 
In practical terms the provision is likely to give rise to the need for very clear 
procedures to be adopted by the meeting to ensure that the Member does withdraw 
from the room at a particular point.  It would be useful to clarify that withdrawal should 
have taken place prior to a decision being reached.  It is not clear whether the Member 
may stay for the debate.   
  
Q8.   Is there a better, more user-friendly way of ensuring the text is gender-
neutral, for example, would consultees consider that amending the wording to 
say  ‘you’ instead of ‘he or she’ or ‘him or her’ would result in a clearer and more 
accessible code for Members? 
 
The draft code is written in language that is intended to be user friendly.  It is clearer 
and more understandable although the lack of definitions creates ambiguity in many 
places.   

Page 22



Paul Rowsell, Deputy Director Local Democracy 
Communities and Local Government 
5/G10, Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London SW1E 5DU

Enquiries: 
Tel :     020 7944 8765 
Fax:     020 7944 4109 
Email: william.tandoh@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

    22 January 2007 

To Chief Executives of: 
County Councils and District Councils in England 
London Borough Councils 
The Greater London Authority 
National Park Authorities 
The Broads Authority 

The Clerk: 
City of London 
Council of the Isles of Scilly 
Combined Fire and Rescue Authorities 
Fire and Civil Defence Authorities 
Police Authorities in England and Wales 
The Clerk: 
Parish Councils in England 

Our Ref:  

Your Ref:  

Dear Colleague 

A REVISED MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT FOR LOCAL AUTHORITY MEMBERS 

I am writing to inform you that the Government has today published the enclosed 
consultation paper which seeks views on a draft of a proposed new model code of 
conduct for local authority members.

The Local Government White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities,
published in October 2006 announced the Government’s intention to put in place a 
clearer, simpler and more proportionate code of conduct for members of local 
authorities, which would include changes to the rules on personal and prejudicial 
interests. This followed our discussion paper Standards of Conduct in English Local 
Government: The Future in December 2005, which included the Government’s 
response to the recommendations of the Standards Board for England for 
amendments to the model code of conduct for members.

The Government is also proposing to combine the current four individual codes into 
one consolidated code. The four model codes are the Local Authorities (Model Code 
of Conduct)(England) Order 2001, the Parish Councils (Model Code of Conduct) 
Order 2001, the National Park and Broads Authorities (Model Code of 
Conduct)(England) Order 2001 and the Police Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) 
Order 2001. 

The consultation paper provides an explanatory commentary on the proposals and 
invites views on them.  A draft of the proposed new model code is at Annex A to the

Page 23



paper and particular questions on which we would welcome views are listed 
separately at Annex B to the paper. 

Copies of the consultation paper are being sent to all principal local authorities,
parish councils and other organisations and individuals who have a particular interest 
in these issues. If you wish to comment, please send responses to: 

William Tandoh
Local Democracy Directorate 
Communities and Local Government 
5/G10 Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London
SW1E 5DU 
(e-mail: william.tandoh@communities.gsi.gov.uk ; tel 020 7944 8765) 

so as to be received by Friday 9 March.

Any queries you may have on this letter or paper should be directed to either: 

Cathryn Evans (tel: 020 7944 4262; cathryn.evans@communities.gsi.gov.uk ) 
or William Tandoh (tel: 020 7944 8765; william.tandoh@communities.gsi.gov.uk ) 

Yours sincerely

Paul Rowsell

Page 24



Consultation on Amendments
to the Model Code of Conduct
for Local Authority Members

Page 25



January 2007

Department for Communities and Local Government

Consultation on Amendments
to the Model Code of Conduct
for Local Authority Members

Page 26



On 5th May 2006 the responsibilities of the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) 
transferred to the Department for Communities and Local Government.

Department for Communities and Local Government
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London SW1E 5DU
Telephone: 020 7944 4400
Website: www.communities.gov.uk

© Crown Copyright 2007

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research, private

study or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately and not

used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title of the

publication specified.

Any other use of the contents of this publication would require a copyright licence. Please apply for a Click-Use
Licence for core material at www.opsi.gov.uk/click-use/system/online/pLogin.asp or by writing to the Office 
of Public Sector Information, Information Policy Team, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ.
Fax: 01603 723000 or e-mail: HMSOlicensing@cabinet-office.x.gsi.gov.uk.

If you require this publication in an alternative format please email alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Communities and Local Government Publications
PO Box 236
Wetherby
West Yorkshire
LS23 7NB
Tel: 0870 1226 236
Fax: 0870 1226 237
Textphone: 0870 1207 405
E-mail: communities@twoten.com
or online via the Communities and Local Government website: www.communities.gov.uk

Printed in the UK on paper comprising no less than 75% post-consumer waste.

January 2007

Product Code 06 LG 04359

Page 27



Contents

Introduction 4

Commentary on Detailed Amendments Proposed 7

Annex A 19

Annex B 30

3

Page 28



Introduction

The Local Government White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, issued in
October 2006, set out the Government’s proposals to put in place a clearer, simpler
and more proportionate model code of conduct, which would include changes to the
rules on personal and prejudicial interests.

This announcement followed the Discussion Paper Conduct in English Local
Government: The Future, issued by the then Office of the Deputy Prime Minister in
December 2005, which set out the Government’s response to the recommendations
made by the Standards Board for England for amendments to the model code of
conduct for local authority members. These recommendations followed extensive
consultation by the Board in 2005 on amending the code, which attracted over 1,200
responses. We are grateful to the Board for the effort it put into its review and the
detailed recommendations it formulated which have served as the basis of the current
consultation.

Our Discussion Paper indicated that we welcomed the recommendations the Board
presented. We agreed with the Board that amendments should be made to the code
along the lines it proposed, including making the code clearer and more
proportionate, but maintaining a rigorous approach to the identification of serious
misconduct.

The decision to amend the code so as to make it more effective and proportionate
formed part of the Government’s wider review of the conduct regime applying to
local authorities, which concluded that the regime should be amended along the lines
suggested by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, ie that there should be a
move to a more locally-based decision-making regime for the investigation and
determination of all but the most serious of misconduct allegations, but with the
Standards Board at the centre of the revised regime with a new strategic, regulatory
role to ensure consistency of standards. 

In advance of this current consultation, we consulted a number of key stakeholders
informally on the detail of the proposals, as part of the Department’s White Paper
implementation plan. Our intention has been to inaugurate a new, more transparent
and collaborative way of working with local government and other stakeholders.
We are very grateful for the comments received from the LGA, ACSeS, SOLACE and
ALACE, among others, which have assisted us in the shaping of these proposals. 

This paper represents the Government’s consultation on the detailed amendments
needed to put our undertaking to amend the code of conduct into effect. There are
four current model codes of conduct applying to various categories of local authority
members. These were issued in 2001 and are as follows:

� The Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct)(England) Order 2001

� The Parish Councils (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001

4

Page 29



� The National Park and Broads Authorities (Model Code of
Conduct)(England) Order 2001

� The Police Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001.

We propose to combine the current four individual codes referred to above into one
consolidated code. A revised draft model code to put this into effect is enclosed at
Annex A to this consultation paper. In consequence of providing a consolidated code,
we have disapplied certain provisions in respect of particular types of authorities.
The consultation paper provides an explanatory commentary on the proposed
amendments set out in the revised draft code, and invites the views of consultees on
the detailed proposals. We would welcome comments on the proposed model code,
including in relation to the questions we have specifically identified in the paper.
These are also listed separately at Annex B.

Please send any comments you may have on the paper to

William Tandoh
Local Democracy Directorate
Department for Communities and Local Government
5/G10
Eland House
Bressenden Place 
London
SW1E 5DU

e-mail: William.tandoh@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

by 9 March 2007

Your responses may be made public by the Department for Communities and Local
Government. If you do not want all or part of your response or name made public,
please state this clearly in the response. Any confidentiality disclaimer that may be
generated by your organisation’s IT system or included as a general statement in your
FAX cover sheet will be taken to apply only to information in your response for
which confidentiality has been specifically requested. 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information,
may be subject to publication or disclosure in accordance with the access to
information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA),
the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations
2004). If you want other information that you provide to be treated as confidential,
please be aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with
which public authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with
obligations of confidence. In view of this, it would be helpful if you could explain
to us why you regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we
receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take full account of your
explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained
in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT
system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

5

Page 30



The Department will process your personal data in accordance with the DPA and in
the majority of circumstances this will mean that your personal data will not be
disclosed to third parties. 

If you have comments or complaints about the way this consultation has been
conducted, these should be sent to:

Albert Joyce, Communities and Local Government Consultation Co-ordinator,
Zone 6/H10, Eland House, Bressenden Place, London SW1E 5DU; or by e-mail to:
albert.joyce@communities.gsi.gov.uk.

Alternative formats under Disability Discrimination Act (DDA): If you require
this publication in an alternative format (eg Braille or audio) please email
alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk quoting the title and product code/ISBN
of the publication, and your address and telephone number. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

6

Page 31



Commentary on Detailed

Amendments Proposed

(THE BRACKETED REFERENCES TO PARAGRAPH NUMBERS CORRESPOND

TO THE RELEVANT PARAGRAPHS OF THE DRAFT MODEL CODE)

Unlawful discrimination

1. To delete reference to unlawful discrimination (paragraph 2(2)(a)) 

Paragraph 2(a) of the model code currently provides that a member must promote
equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person. However, an
Adjudication Panel finding in January 2005 concluded that the Panel has no
jurisdiction to make findings of unlawful discrimination. We need therefore to ensure
that unlawful discrimination is not an issue on which a Panel may be required to
make a determination, so the provisions in current paragraph 2(a) will be deleted.

We propose to replace paragraph 2(a) with a provision proscribing members from
doing anything that would seriously prejudice their authority’s statutory duties in
regard to equality. We are also retaining the provision in the current rules requiring
members to treat others with respect. These provisions should allow the code to
continue to support the principles of fair treatment and respect for others, including
behaviour and actions which could relate to equality issues. 

Bullying

2. Add a provision specifically proscribing bullying (paragraph 2(2)(b))

Currently, paragraph 2(b) of the model code states that a member must treat others
with respect. Paragraph 4 of the current code provides that a member must not bring
his or her office or authority into disrepute. The code makes no specific reference,
however, to bullying behaviour. 

We propose to add a specific provision to indicate that members must not bully any
person, ie that bullying of other members, officers or anyone else is a breach of the
code of conduct. We wish to ensure that it is clear that bullying behaviour should
play no part in members’ conduct.

We have accepted the Standards Board’s view that a specific definition of bullying
does not need to be included in the code, and that this should be left to guidance by
the Board, which will indicate, for example, the view we take that bullying can relate
not only to patterns of behaviour, but also to individual incidents. 

7

Page 32



Disclosure of confidential information

3. To allow members to disclose confidential information where such
disclosure is in the public interest (paragraph 3(a)(iii))

Paragraph 3(a) of the code currently provides that a member should not disclose
information given to him or her in confidence or which the member believes to be
of a confidential nature. There is no explicit provision allowing members to disclose
information if this is in the public interest. 

An Adjudication Panel decision in 2005 confirmed, as a matter of law, that paragraph
3(a) of the code of conduct fails properly to take into account Article 10(1) of the
European Convention on Human Rights. The Panel found that in order to be
compatible with Article 10(1), the code should be read so as to allow for the
disclosure of information of a confidential nature where it is in the public interest
to do so. 

We therefore wish to provide that a member may make a disclosure of information
given to him or her in confidence or which he or she believes to be of a confidential
nature in the public interest provided the disclosure is in good faith and reasonable,
and that the member has not breached any reasonable requirements of the authority,
eg in the form of relevant local protocols or procedures. We propose that the
Standards Board would issue guidance on how they would expect members to
interpret this. We expect that such guidance would indicate that members should be
able to disclose information in the following circumstances: where they reasonably
believe that the disclosure will indicate evidence of a criminal offence, where the
authority is failing to comply with its legal obligations, that a miscarriage of justice has
occurred or may occur, that the health and safety of anyone has been endangered, or
that the environment has been damaged. 

We appreciate that it is important that the public interest test does not allow members
to use the defence of public interest when merely seeking to make political capital
through disclosure of properly confidential information. Our aim is to strike a sensible
balance which is workable in practice between the need to treat certain information
confidentially and to allow the disclosure of information in appropriate circumstances. 

There may be scope for the provision on confidential information to be clarified
further, so as to make clear that the rules on the disclosure of information cover
information received by a member in his official capacity or which relates to the
work of the council. This would ensure that a member would not be able to claim
that although he did disclose information, he did not receive the information in his
capacity as a member, which the current drafting might potentially allow him to claim. 

Q1. Does the proposed text on the disclosure of confidential information strike
an appropriate balance between the need to treat certain information as
confidential, but to allow some information to be made public in defined
circumstances when to do so would be in the public interest? 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

8

Page 33



Behaviour outside official duties 

4. Paragraphs 4 and 5 

Paragraph 4 of the current code provides that a member must not in his or her official
capacity or any other circumstance conduct himself or herself in a manner which
could reasonably be regarded as bringing his or her office or authority into disrepute.
In addition, paragraph 5 currently provides that a member must not in his or her
official capacity or any other circumstance use his or her position as a member
improperly to secure for himself or herself or any other person an advantage or
disadvantage.

The Standards Board has recommended amending the code so that, in terms of a
member’s behaviour in private life, conduct which amounts to a criminal offence, as
well as behaviour which would be regarded as criminal but for which a conviction
has not been secured, could be regarded as bringing the member’s office or authority
into disrepute under the terms of the code. 

Separately the decision by the High Court in the case of the appeal of the Mayor of
London, in October 2006, cast some doubt on the ability of the code of conduct to
proscribe behaviour of members in their private capacity. The judgement commented
on the interpretation of section 52 of the Local Government Act 2000. This section
imposes a duty on a council member to give an undertaking to observe the code of
conduct ‘in performing his functions’. The Court considered that section 52 limits the
scope of the code so that conduct in a member’s private capacity can only come
within the scope of the code where it is established that there is a direct link with the
member’s office, eg if the member uses his office for personal gain. 

The Court judgement gave examples of cases where it did not think that the code
was able to apply. These included where a member shoplifts or is guilty of drunken
driving. Such action will not now be caught by the code if the offending conduct had
nothing specifically to do with the member’s position as a councillor. 

This is a narrower interpretation than we have previously applied to the code. Up to
now we have assumed it was possible to take a wider view of what private conduct
could be relevant, ie including actions not necessarily to do with the member’s
position as a councillor but which may affect the member’s reputation and electors’
confidence in him or her. 

In response to this case, we have decided to amend sections 49 to 52 of the Local
Government Act 2000 so that behaviour in a private capacity might be included
within the remit of a code of conduct. This amendment is included in the Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill currently before Parliament.

If the amendments are enacted, Ministers are currently minded to provide that only
private behaviour for which the member has been convicted by a court should be
proscribed by the code of conduct, as referred to in paragraph 4(2), and not
behaviour falling short of a criminal offence. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

9

Page 34



Q2. Subject to powers being available to us to refer in the code to actions by members
in their private capacity beyond actions which are directly relevant to the office
of the member, is the proposed text which limits the proscription of activities in
members’ private capacity to those activities which have already been found to
be unlawful by the courts, appropriate? 

Commission of criminal offence before taking

office

5. Paragraph 4(2)

We agree with the Standards Board that in the circumstances where a member’s
behaviour has been found to be unlawful by a court, then the member may be
perceived to have brought his or her office or authority into disrepute. We also
consider that where a member committed the offence before taking office as a
member but where he or she was not convicted until after becoming a member, then
this offence should be capable of being taken into account when considering whether
the member has brought his or her authority into disrepute. A new paragraph 4(2)
implements this amendment. 

Using or seeking to use improper influence

6. To amend paragraph 5(a) by adding ‘or attempt to use’

Paragraph 5(a) currently provides that a member must not in his or her official
capacity or any other circumstance use his or her position as a member improperly
to confer on or secure for himself or herself or any other person an advantage or
disadvantage. A literal interpretation of this provision might mean that it does not
cover unsuccessful attempts by the member to use his or her position in this way.
We believe that justice would be better served if provision was made for the code to
proscribe members’ attempts to use their position even where such attempts were not
in the event successful. To this end, we have proposed that the paragraph should
provide that the member should not either use or attempt to use his or her position
to confer an advantage or disadvantage for himself or herself or anyone else. 

7. Paragraph 5(b)(ii) 

We have sought to simplify this sub-paragraph without losing any of the intended
meaning of the original provision, and specific reference is added to clarify the
intention that an authority’s resources should not be used improperly for party
political purposes. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

10

Page 35



Publicity code

8. To add reference at paragraph 5 to the need for the member to have regard
to the guidance set out in the Government’s local authority publicity code

We believe it would be a sensible complement to the code to make it clear that, in
addition to providing in paragraph 5 that members should not use resources
improperly for political purposes, they should also have regard to the Government’s
Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity. 

The Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity (a copy of which
can be found at http://www.communities.gov.uk/index.asp?id=1133867) is issued by
the Government under the Local Government Act 1986 and was last amended in
2001. The Publicity Code provides instructions about the content, style and
distribution of promotional activity and material produced by authorities,
supplementing the basic requirement in the 1986 Act that authorities must not
use their resources for political purposes. 

It has been suggested by some that the Code of Practice on Local Authority Publicity
is unnecessary and restrictive. We would be grateful to hear the views of consultees
on the Publicity Code and whether or not they feel it is serving a useful purpose.
If people feel it should be abolished, do they think it should be replaced by any
other guidance, eg issued by local authority representative bodies? 

The Publicity Code does not currently apply to the Greater London Authority, fire and
rescue authorities and the national parks authorities, although the code of conduct
does apply to these bodies. We would also be grateful therefore for views on whether
and how it might be appropriate for the Publicity Code to apply in relation to the
above bodies. 

Q3. Is the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity serving a
useful purpose? If the Publicity Code is abolished, do consultees think some or all
of its provisions should be promulgated in a different way, eg via guidance
issued by local government representative bodies, or should authorities be left to
make their own decisions in this area without any central guidance? Should
authorities not currently subject to the Publicity Code be required to follow it, or
should the current position with regard to them be maintained?

Reporting breaches of the code and proscribing

intimidation

9. To delete the duty in paragraph 7 of the existing code to report breaches of
the code by other members, and add a proscription (at paragraph 2(2)(c)) on
the intimidation of complainants and witnesses

Paragraph 7 of the current code provides that a member must, if he or she becomes
aware of another member’s breach of the code, make an allegation to the Standards
Board of that breach. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

11

Page 36



We wish to delete the requirement to report other members’ breaches of the code,
which has been perceived by some as encouraging councillors to make trivial
allegations.

At the same time, to protect members who do report serious misconduct from
victimisation, we propose to add a provision at paragraph 2(2)(c) prohibiting a
member from intimidating or attempting to intimidate a complainant or witness,
people carrying out the investigation, support staff and others involved in the case,
whether or not they are members, officers or members of the public. This would
demonstrate to members that victimising complainants or witnesses will rebound on
them by making the case against them more serious, since such intimidation would
itself count as a breach of the code. 

In addition, since it is the Government’s policy to increase the proportion of cases to
be investigated locally, it is important that officers who are required to handle such
cases are free from inappropriate pressures from members.

Gifts and hospitality 

10. Paragraphs 7(a)(vi) and 8(3)

Paragraph 17 of the code currently provides that in the case of the receipt of any gift
or hospitality over the value of £25, members must notify the monitoring officer of
the existence and nature of the gift or hospitality. There is no provision for such
information to be made public in the register of members’ interests.

We wish to reinforce the principles of accountability and openness of the conduct
regime by requiring that information about gifts and hospitality should be included in
the register of interests. We propose therefore to provide that the receipt of gifts or
hospitality of over £25 in value should be an interest that should be registered as a
personal interest. However, to ensure this provision is proportionate, we also propose
that the requirement to disclose the personal interest to a meeting would cease after
five years following the receipt of the gift or hospitality, although that receipt would
remain on the register as a personal interest. 

Q4. Does the proposed text with regard to gifts and hospitality adequately combine the
need for transparency as well as proportionality in making public information
with regard to personal interests?

Body influencing public opinion or policy

11. Paragraph 7(b)(iv)

To clarify the fact that the existing reference to a body whose purposes include the
influence of public opinion or policy in which the member may have a personal
interest, includes any political party. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

12

Page 37



Interests of family, friends and those with a close

personal association

12. To amend reference in the current code to friends and family by adding
reference to any person with whom the member has a close personal
association (paragraph 7(c)(i) and elsewhere) 

Paragraph 8 of the current code provides that a member must regard himself or
herself as having a personal interest in a matter if a decision on it affects to a greater
extent than other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the authority’s area,
the well-being or financial position of himself, a relative or a friend. We wish to
ensure that the definition of personal interest includes matters affecting a range of
personal, business and professional associates, as well as people who would
specifically be termed as ‘friends’. Reference has therefore been added to any person
with whom the member has a close personal association.

13. Definition of family and friends (paragraph 7(c)(i) and elsewhere) 

With the inclusion of “close personal association” it is not thought necessary to keep
the definitions of ‘family’ or ‘friend’ in the code. Guidance by the Standards Board
will give assistance to members on these definitions. 

Q5. Does the proposed text relating to friends, family and those with a close personal
association adequately cover the breadth of relationships which ought to be
covered, to identify the most likely people who might benefit from decisions made
by a member, including family, friends, business associates and personal
acquaintances?

Definition of personal interests

14. To replace reference in paragraph 8 to the inhabitants of an authority’s
area with provision that members should not be required to register an
interest in a matter unless the interest is greater than that of the majority of
the inhabitants of the ward affected by the matter. For parish councils the
definition would apply in respect of the council’s whole area (paragraph 7(c)). 

Paragraph 8 of the current code provides that members have a personal interest if
they would be affected by a matter to a greater extent than other council tax payers,
rate payers or inhabitants of the authority’s area. 

We wish the code to allow members to be able more frequently to take part in council
meetings which their communities expect them to participate in or on issues, in some
cases, which they have even been elected specifically to address. We therefore wish to
delete the current requirement that a personal interest arises where a decision on it
might be regarded as affecting the member to a greater extent than other inhabitants
of the authority’s area, and replace it with a requirement that the personal interest
arises only where the interest might reasonably be regarded as affecting the member to
a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants
of the ward which is affected by the particular matter. The purpose is to reduce the

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

13

Page 38



number of times a personal interest may arise on matters which are not of genuine
concern to the public, as a result of the broad current test relating to the whole
council’s area, which in effect has meant in some cases that members have felt they
have to declare interests which are in fact shared with a large number of people. 

Narrowing the definition will provide a more locally-based focus, and reduce the
number of personal interests which arise by requiring that an interest would arise
only where the interest would be higher than most people in the local area affected
by the matter. This should mean that an interest would not arise where interests are
shared by a substantial number of inhabitants in the authority’s area. 

Where members, eg elected mayors and co-opted members, do not represent wards,
the relevant test would be whether the issue affected the member more than the
majority of people in the ward affected by the particular matter. 

In the case of parish councils, which do not usually have wards, their areas are so
small that we propose to apply the definition in respect of the council’s whole area. 

Disclosure of personal interests

15. Paragraph 8(4)

Under the current code, a member would technically be in breach of the code’s
provisions in respect of the personal interests of a relative even if he or she was
unaware of any interest held by a relative. It would be sensible and more
proportionate to amend the provision so that the rules on the disclosure of interests
at a meeting in respect of a family member, friend or a person with a close personal
association will only apply if the member is aware or ought reasonably to be aware
of the interest held by that person. 

Public service interests

16. To create a new category of ‘public service interest’, which arises where a
member is also a member of another public body, and for the public service
interest only to be declared at meetings where the member speaks on the
relevant issue (paragraph 8(2) and 8(7)) 

Paragraph 9 of the current code provides that a member with a personal interest must
disclose the interest at the commencement of the meeting or when the interest
becomes apparent. 

We wish to provide a definition of what is meant by ‘public service interest’, ie an
interest which arises where a member is also a member of another public body, to
which they have been appointed or nominated by the authority, or of which they are
a member in their own right. Members would be required, as now, to enter any such
interest they have in the register of interests. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

14

Page 39



However, instead of, as now, requiring that public service interests are declared at the
start of any relevant business, we wish to require that such interests should only be
declared at such time as the member speaks on a relevant issue. The aim of this is to
avoid the current onerous requirement by which lengthy periods at the start of
business on a particular issue can be spent by members in declaring their personal
interests in the particular issue, even if many or all of those members have no
intention to take part in the debate on that subject.

Prejudicial interests – List of exemptions

17. To simplify and amend the list of exemptions where members should not
regard themselves as having a prejudicial interest (paragraph 9(2)(b))

Three new items have been added to the list of interests which are not to be
regarded as prejudicial. This will mean that a member will not have a prejudicial
interest where the matter relates to the authority’s functions in respect of:

– Indemnities. This addition arises from the Standards Board’s experience of
cases where, for example, members have felt unable to vote in discussions
on the issue by the authority of indemnities which might relate to
themselves, as well as a number of other members of the council. 

– The setting of council tax. We understand that some members have been
concerned that in discussing this issue, prejudicial interests may arise for
them because of their connection with an organisation funded from an
operational budget which is being set by the council tax settlement.
We consider that such an interest is likely to be too remote to be a
prejudicial interest. 

– Considering whether or not the member should become a freeman of
the authority.

We also propose to amend the Local Authorities (Code of Conduct) (Local
Determination) Regulations to allow a member to attend a hearing of a standards
committee into his or her conduct in order to be able to defend himself or herself. 

Q6. Would it be appropriate for new exceptions to be included in the text as additions
to the list of items which are not to be regarded as prejudicial? 

Overview and scrutiny committees

18. To provide that members are excluded from overview and scrutiny
committees where they are scrutinising decisions, including decisions
made by the authority’s executive, which they were involved in making
(paragraph 10) 

Paragraph 11 of the current code does not allow a member to scrutinise a decision of
a committee, sub-committee or joint committee ‘of which he may also be a member’.
It does not cover the position of a member who may not now be a member of the
relevant committee but was a member at the time the decision was taken. We
therefore wish to make an amendment to ensure that the proscription will apply
where the councillor was a member at the time of the decision or action. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

15

Page 40



A further consequence of the current paragraph 11 provision is that a member is not
allowed to scrutinise decisions where he or she is a member of the committee whose
decision is being scrutinised, ie the proscription applies where he or she was not
involved in making the decision, for example, because he or she was absent from the
committee or where he or she became a member after the decision was taken. This
can have the effect of debarring members from the scrutiny function in respect of
decisions in which they had no involvement. We therefore propose an amendment
to provide that members should only be debarred from involvement in the scrutiny
function in cases where they are scrutinising decisions they were involved in making. 

In addition, the rules do not currently refer to decisions made or action taken by the
authority’s executive. They therefore do not cover the case where a former member
of the executive sits on a scrutiny committee to scrutinise decisions of the executive
to which he or she contributed. We propose therefore that paragraph 10 is amended
to indicate that the restriction will apply to former executive members who were
involved in making the relevant decisions. 

Participation in relation to prejudicial interests

19. To provide a clearer prejudicial interest test to apply for public service
interests and where members attend to make representations (paragraphs 9
and 11)

Actions which a member should take where he or she has a prejudicial interest are
set out in current paragraph 12.

We wish to provide for clearer and more proportionate rules to apply in respect of
participation in council meetings for those who have public sector interests, ie who
are members of another authority or a charity or lobbying body, and for those who
are attending meetings to make representations.

We consider that the fact that an issue considered by one body may affect another
body with which the member is involved does not necessarily mean that the
member’s judgement of the public interest will be prejudiced. In such cases, the
public service interest should only be considered prejudicial where 

(a) the matter relates to the financial affairs of the body concerned, or 

(b) where the matter relates to the determining of any approval, consent,
licence or permission (eg in respect of planning and licensing) in relation
to the body. 

Where a member has a public service interest and (a) or (b) do not apply, then no
prejudicial interest would arise and the member may speak and vote at the meeting. 

Any member (including a member with a public service interest to which (a) or (b)
also apply), will not have a prejudicial interest where they attend a meeting to make
representations, answer questions or give evidence, provided the committee agrees
that the member may do so. After members have answered such questions or given
such evidence, they must then withdraw from the room where the meeting is being
held.

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

16

Page 41



All members with a prejudicial interest, regardless of the category of interest, would
still continue to be subject to paragraph 11(1)(c), ie the requirement that members
should not seek improperly to influence a decision about the matter. 

Q7. Is the proposed text, relaxing the rules to allow increased representation at
meetings, including where members attend to make representations, answer
questions or give evidence, appropriate? 

Sensitive Information

20. To provide for sensitive information in respect of private interests not to
be included on the register of interests where revealing it is likely to lead to
the member or those he or she lives with being subject to violence or
intimidation (paragraphs 8(5) and 13)

Paragraph 14 of the current code requires members to register all of their personal
interests.

We wish to ensure that sensitive information, for example, where members are
employed in areas of sensitive employment, such as certain types of scientific
research, need not be made public if to do so would threaten the safety of the
member and/or his family. A member who considers that the information which he or
she would need to register is sensitive, will apply to the authority’s monitoring officer
for the interest not to be registered. If the monitoring officer is satisfied that the
information is sensitive and the risk of intimidation of the member or those he or she
lives with is real, the member may not include the sensitive information on the
register of interests. 

Consistent with the above, we also wish to amend paragraph 8(5), so that a member
with an accepted sensitive interest should not have to disclose publicly the details of
that sensitive information at a council meeting, although he or she will still need to
disclose that they have a personal interest if this is the case in respect of a particular
matter under discussion. 

National Park and Boards Authorities – prejudicial

interest

21. Delete sub-paragraphs (f) and (g) from paragraph 10(2) of the current
National Park and Broads Authorities (Model Code of Conduct)(England)
Order 2001

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

17

Page 42



Paragraph 10(2)(f) and (g) of the current model code applying to the National Park
and Broads Authorities makes provision in respect of matters for which a member
may regard himself as not having a prejudicial interest. At the request of DEFRA, and
following earlier consultation by them with the National Parks and Broads Authorities,
we wish to delete provisions allowing interest in respect of matters relating to
farming, land, certain charges or navigation not to be regarded as prejudicial interests
for members in certain cases. This is to address criticism that these clauses have lead
to preferential treatment for some landowners and navigators, who, if it was not for
the operation of the paragraph, would have been regarded as having a prejudicial
interest.

Register of members’ interests

22. Paragraphs 12 and 13

Opportunity has been taken to rearrange the position of various provisions within
the code. Because the list of potential personal interests is now in paragraph 7, the
paragraphs on the registration of personal interests have been simplified and
shortened.

Gender neutrality of language

23. To amend the code throughout to ensure gender neutrality of language

To signal the fact that the principles of the code refer both to women as well as men,
and promote a more inclusive approach, we propose to make the language of the
code gender neutral and replace gender-specific language such as ‘he’, or ‘him’, with
‘he or she’, or ‘him or her’. 

Q8. Is there a better, more user-friendly way of ensuring the text is gender neutral,
for example, would consultees consider that amending the wording to say ‘you’
instead of ‘he or she’ or ‘him or her’ would result in a clearer and more
accessible code for members? 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

18

Page 43



ANNEX A 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

[2007] No. [xxx]  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, ENGLAND AND WALES 

The Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order [2007] 

xxx----edaM

xxxtnemailraPerofebdiaL

xxx--ecrofotnignimoC

The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government makes the following Order in 

exercise of the powers conferred by sections 50(1) and (4), 81(2) and (3), and 105(2), (3) and (4) 

of the Local Government  Act 2000(a). 

The Secretary of State has consulted in accordance with section 50(5) of that Act. 

The Secretary of State is satisfied that this Order is consistent with the principles for the time 

being specified in an order under section 49 of that Act. 

Citation, commencement, application and interpretation 

1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order 

[2007] and comes into force on [xxx]. 

(2) This Order applies— 

(a) in relation to police authorities in England and Wales; and 

(b) in relation to the following authorities in England— 

(i) a county council;

(ii) a district council; 

(iii) a London borough council;

(iv) a parish council;

(v) the Greater London Authority; 

(vi) the Metropolitan Police Authority; 

(vii) the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority; 

(viii) the Common Council of the City of London; 

(ix) the Council of the Isles of Scilly; 

(x) a fire and rescue authority; 

(xi) a joint authority; 

(xii) the Broads Authority; and 

                                                                                                                                                              

(a) 2000 c.22. 

19

Annex A

Page 44



(xiii) a National Park authority, 

and references to “authority” are construed accordingly. 

Model Code of Conduct 

2.—(1) The Secretary of State here issues a model code as regards the conduct which is 

expected of members and co-opted members of authorities and that code is set out in the 

Schedule to this Order. 

(2) Subject to paragraphs (3) to (6), all the provisions of the model code in the Schedule to this 

Order are mandatory. 

(3) The following provisions of the model code in the Schedule are not mandatory for authorities 

which are not operating executive arrangements— 

(a) sub-paragraph (b) in the definition of “meeting”; 

(b) the words “or its executive’s” and “, or area committees” in the definition of “meeting”; 

and 

(c) paragraphs 8(6), 8(7)(b), 10, 11(1)(b) and 11(2). 

(4) The following provisions of the model code in the Schedule are not mandatory for police 

authorities, the Greater London Authority, the Metropolitan Police Authority, the London Fire and 

Emergency Planning Authority, a fire and rescue authority and a joint authority— 

(a) sub-paragraph (b) in the definition of “meeting”; 

(b) the words “or its executive’s” and “, or area committees” in the definition of “meeting”; 

and 

(c) paragraphs 5(b)(iii), 8(6), 8(7)(b), 9(2)(b)(i), 9(2)(b)(ii), 10, 11(1)(b) and 11(2). 

(5) The following provisions are not mandatory for parish councils— 

(a) sub-paragraph (b) in the definition of “meeting”; 

(b) the words “or its executive’s” and “, or area committees” in the definition of “meeting”; 

and 

(c) paragraphs 6, 8(6), 8(7)(b), 9(2)(b)(i), 9(2)(b)(ii), 10,  11(1)(b) and 11(2). 

(6) The following provisions are not mandatory for a National Parks authority and the Broads 

Authority— 

(a) sub-paragraph (b) in the definition of “meeting”; 

(b) the words “or its executive’s” and “, or area committees” in the definition of “meeting”; 

and 

(c) paragraphs 8(6), 8(7)(b), 9(2)(b)(i), 9(2)(b)(ii), 10, 11(1)(b) and 11(2). 

Disapplication 

3. Where an authority has adopted a code of conduct or such a code applies to it, the following 

shall, where applicable to the authority, be disapplied as respects that authority— 

(a) sections 94 to 98 and 105 to the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) section 30(3A) of the Local Government Act 1974; 

(c) regulations made or code issued under section 19 and 31 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989; 

(d) paragraphs 9 and 10 of Schedule 7 to the Environment Act 1995; 

(e) in section 17 of the Audit Commission Act 1998, subsections (1)(b), (3), (5)(b), (7) and 

(8) and in subsection (2), the words “subject to subsection (3)” and paragraphs (a) and 

(b); 

(f) section 18 of the Audit Commission Act 1998; and 

(g) any guidance issued under section 66 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

20

Page 45



Revocation and savings 

4.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3), the following orders are revoked— 

(a) the Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) (England) Order 2001(a); 

(b) the Parish Councils (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001(b); 

(c) the National Park and Broads Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) (England) Order 

2001(c); 

(d) the Police Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001(d). 

(2) The Orders referred to in paragraph (1) continue to have effect for the purposes of and for 

purposes connected with — 

(a) the investigation of any written allegation under Part 3 of the Local Government Act 

2000, where that allegation was made before the date when, pursuant to section 51 of that 

Act— 

(i) the authority adopts a code of conduct incorporating the mandatory provisions of the 

model code of conduct in the Schedule to this Order in place of their existing code of 

conduct; 

(ii) the authority revises their existing code of conduct to incorporate the mandatory 

provisions of the model code of conduct in the Schedule to this Order; or 

(iii) the mandatory provisions of the model code of conduct in the Schedule to this Order 

apply to members or co-opted members of the authority under section 51(5)(b) of 

that Act; 

(b) the adjudication of a matter raised in such an allegation; and 

(c) an appeal against the decision of an interim case tribunal or case tribunal in relation to 

such an allegation. 

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Name

[Minister for…..] 

tnemnrevoGlacoLdnaseitinummoCroftnemtrapeD]etaD[

                                                                                                                                                              

(a) S.I. 2001/3575. 

(b) S.I. 2001/3576. 
(c) S.I. 2001/3577. 

(d) S.I. 2001/3578. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

21

Page 46



SCHEDULE 

THE MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 

PART 1 

General Provisions 

Interpretation 

In this Code— 

“meeting” means any meeting of— 

(a) the authority; 

(b) the executive of the authority; 

(c) any of the authority’s or its executive’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees, 

joint sub-committees, or area committees; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; 

“the authority’s monitoring officer”, in relation to parish councils, is construed as referring to 

the monitoring officer of the district council or unitary county council which has functions in 

relation to the parish council for which it is responsible under section 55(2) of the Local 

Government Act 2000; and

“the authority’s standards committee”, in relation to parish councils, is construed as referring 

to the standards committee of the district council or unitary county council which has 

functions in relation to the parish council for which it is responsible under section 55(2) of the 

Local Government Act 2000. 

Scope  

1.—(1) A member must observe the authority’s code of conduct whenever he or she—

(a) conducts the business of the authority; 

(b) conducts the business of the office to which he or she is elected or appointed; or 

(c) acts as a representative of the authority, 

and references to a member’s official capacity is construed accordingly.  

(2) An authority’s code of conduct does not, apart from paragraphs 2(2)(c), 4 and 5(a), have effect 

in relation to the activities of a member undertaken other than in an official capacity. 

(3) Where a member acts as a representative of the authority— 

(a) on another relevant authority, he or she must, when acting for that other authority, comply 

with that other authority’s code of conduct; or 

(b) on any other body, he or she must, when acting for that other body, comply with the 

authority’s code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful 

obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

General obligations 

2.—(1) A member must treat others with respect.

(2) A member must not— 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

22

Page 47



(a) do anything which may seriously prejudice his or her authority’s ability to comply with 

any of its statutory duties under the equality enactments (as defined in section 33 of the 

Equality Act 2006); 

(b) bully any person; 

(c) in his or her official capacity, or any other circumstance, intimidate or attempt to 

intimidate any person who is or is likely to be— 

(i) a complainant,  

(ii) a witness, or  

(iii) supporting the administration of any investigation or proceedings, 

in relation to an allegation that a member has failed to comply with his or her authority’s 

code of conduct; 

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who 

work for, or on behalf of, the authority. 

(3) In relation to police authorities and the Metropolitan Police Authority, for the purposes of sub-

paragraph (2)(a) those who work for, or on behalf of, the authority are deemed to include a police 

officer. 

3. A member must not—

(a) disclose information given to him or her in confidence by anyone, or information 

acquired which he or she believes is of a confidential nature, except where— 

(i) he or she has the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

(ii) he or she is required by law to do so; or 

(iii) the disclosure is— 

(aa) reasonable and in the public interest; 

(bb) made in good faith and does not breach any reasonable requirements of the 

authority; 

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled 

by law. 

4.—(1) A member must not in his or her official capacity, or any other circumstance, conduct 

himself or herself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing his or her office 

or authority into disrepute.  

(2) The conduct referred to in paragraph (1) may include a criminal offence including one 

committed by the member before taking office but for which he or she is not convicted until after 

that date. 

5. A member— 

(a) must not in his or her official capacity, or any other circumstance, use or attempt to use 

his or her position as a member improperly to confer on or secure for himself or herself or 

any other person, an advantage or disadvantage; and 

(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the authority— 

(i) act in accordance with the authority’s requirements;  

(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including 

party political purposes); and 

(iii) have regard to any Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 

Government Act 1986. 

6. A member must when reaching decisions—

(a) have regard to any relevant advice provided to him or her by— 

(i) the authority’s chief finance officer; and 

(ii) the authority’s monitoring officer; and 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

23

Page 48



(b) give the reasons for those decisions in accordance with the authority’s and any statutory 

requirements. 

PART 2 

Interests 

Personal interests  

7. A member has a personal interest in any matter where— 

(a) it relates to— 

(i) any employment or business carried on by the member; 

(ii) any person who employs or has appointed the member; 

(iii) any person, other than a relevant authority, who has made a payment to the member 

in respect of his or her election or any expenses incurred by him or her in carrying 

out his or her duties; 

(iv) any corporate body which has a place of business or land in the authority’s area, and 

in which the member has a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that body that 

exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 

capital of that body (whichever is the lower); 

(v) any contract for goods, services or works made between the authority and the 

member or a firm in which he or she is a partner, a company of which he or she is a 

remunerated director, or a body of the description specified in paragraph (iv); 

(vi) any gift or hospitality over the value of £25 received by the member; 

(vii) any land in the authority’s area in which the member has a beneficial interest; 

(viii) any land where the landlord is the authority and the tenant is the member or a firm in 

which he or she is a partner, a company of which he or she is a remunerated director, 

or a body of the description specified in paragraph (iv); 

(ix) any land in the authority’s area in which the member has a licence (alone or jointly 

with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer; 

(b) it relates to his or her membership of or position of general control or management in 

any— 

(i) body to which the member is appointed or nominated by the authority; 

(ii) public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature; 

(iii) company, industrial and provident society, charity, or body directed to charitable 

purposes; 

(iv) body whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy, 

including any political party; and 

(v) trade union or professional association; or 

(c) a decision on the matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 

financial position of— 

(i) the member, one of the member’s family or a friend, or any person with whom the 

member has a close personal association; or 

(ii) any person who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner, or any company of which they are directors; 

(iii) any corporate body in which such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of 

securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

(iv) any body listed in paragraphs (i) to (v) of sub-paragraph (b) in which such persons 

hold a position of general control or management, 

to a greater extent than the majority of— 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

24

Page 49



(aa) in the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards, other council tax 

payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case 

may be, affected by the decision;  

(bb) in the case of the Greater London Authority, other council tax payers, 

ratepayers or inhabitants of the Assembly constituency affected by the 

decision; or 

(cc) in all other cases, other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 

authority’s area. 

Disclosure of personal interests  

8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (7), a member with a personal interest in a matter who 

attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered must disclose to that meeting 

the existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the 

interest becomes apparent. 

(2) A member with a personal interest in a matter which is a public service interest, need only 

disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest when he or she addresses the 

meeting on that matter.  

(3) A member with a personal interest of the type mentioned in paragraph 7(a)(vi) need not 

disclose the nature or existence of that interest to the meeting if the interest was registered more than 

five years before the date of the meeting.

(4) In relation to a personal interest of a family member, a friend, or any person with whom the 

member has a close personal association, sub-paragraph (1) only applies where the member is aware 

or ought reasonably to be aware of the interest. 

(5) Where, by virtue of paragraph 13, sensitive information relating to a member is not registered 

in the authority’s register of members’ interests (maintained under section 81(1) of the Local 

Government Act 2000), a member with a personal interest must indicate to the meeting that he or 

she has a personal interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information to that meeting. 

(6) Subject to paragraph 11(1)(b), a member with a personal interest in any matter who has made 

an executive decision in relation to that matter must ensure that any written statement of that 

decision records the existence and nature of that interest.

(7) In this paragraph—

(a) a member has a public service interest in a matter where that matter relates to— 

(i) another relevant authority of which he or she is a member; 

(ii) another public authority in which he or she holds a position of general control or 

management; or 

(iii) a body to which he or she is appointed or nominated by the authority; and 

(b) “executive decision” is to be construed in accordance with any regulations made by the 

Secretary of State under section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000. 

Prejudicial interests  

9.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), a member with a personal interest in a matter 

also has a prejudicial interest in that matter where the interest is one which a member of the 

public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is 

likely to prejudice the member’s judgement of the public interest.

(2) A member does not have a prejudicial interest in a matter where—

(a) he or she has a public service interest in the matter, unless— 

(i) the matter relates to the financial affairs of the body to which that public service 

interest relates; or 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

25

Page 50



(ii) the matter relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or 

registration in relation to that body; 

(b) that matter relates to the functions of the authority in respect of— 

(i) housing, where he or she is a tenant of the authority provided that those functions do 

not relate particularly to the member’s tenancy or lease; 

(ii) school meals, transport and travelling expenses, where the member is a guardian or 

parent of a child in full time education, or is a parent governor of a school, unless it 

relates particularly to the school which the child attends; 

(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits 

Act 1992, where the member is in receipt of, or is entitled to the receipt of such pay 

from a relevant authority; 

(iv) an allowance or payment made under sections 173 to 176 of the Local Government 

Act 1972 or section 18 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 

(v) an indemnity given under an order made under section 101 of the Local Government 

Act 2000;  

(vi) considering the bestowing of the title of freeman on the member; and 

(vii) setting council tax under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) A member does not have a prejudicial interest in a matter where he or she attends a meeting 

for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the 

matter, provided the meeting agrees that the member may do so and after making representations, 

answering questions or giving evidence, the member withdraws from the room where the meeting is 

being held. 

(4) In this paragraph, a member has a public service interest in a matter where that matter relates 

to— 

(a) any of the matters referred to in paragraph 8(7)(a); or 

(b) a charity, a lobbying or philanthropic body of which he or she is a member. 

Overview and scrutiny committees  

10.—(1) For the purposes of this Part, a member has a prejudicial interest where he or she is 

involved in the consideration of a matter at a meeting of an overview and scrutiny committee of 

the authority or a sub-committee of such a committee and that consideration relates to a decision 

made (whether implemented or not), or action taken by— 

(a) the authority’s executive; 

(b) another of the authority’s— 

(i) committees or sub-committees; or 

(ii) joint committees or joint sub-committees, 

of which he or she is, or was at the time of the decision or action, a member and he or she was 

present for the consideration of that matter. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where that member attends the meeting of the overview 

and scrutiny committee for the purpose of answering questions or otherwise giving evidence relating 

to that decision or action.  

Participation in relation to prejudicial interests  

11.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), a member with a prejudicial interest in a matter 

must—

(a) withdraw from the room or chamber where a meeting is being held whenever it becomes 

apparent that the matter is being considered at that meeting, unless he or she has obtained 

a dispensation from the authority’s standards committee; 

(b) not exercise executive functions in relation to that matter; and 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

26

Page 51



(c) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that matter. 

(2) A member with a prejudicial interest in a matter may, unless that interest is of a financial 

nature or of the type described in paragraph 10, participate in a meeting of the authority’s— 

(a) overview and scrutiny committees; and 

(b) joint or area committees, 

to the extent that such committees are not exercising functions of the authority or its executive.  

(3) In this paragraph, a member has a public service interest in a matter where that matter relates 

to— 

(a) any of the matters referred to in paragraph 8(7)(a); or 

(b) a charity, a lobbying or philanthropic body of which he or she is a member. 

PART 3 

Registration of Members’ Interests  

Registration of Members’ Interests  

12.—(1) A member must, within 28 days of—

(i) the provisions of an authority’s code of conduct being adopted or applied to that 

authority; or  

(ii) his or her election or appointment to office (where that is later),  

register in the authority’s register of members’ interests (maintained under section 81(1) of the 

Local Government Act 2000) any personal interest of the type mentioned in paragraph 7(a)  or 

(b), by providing written notification to the authority’s monitoring officer.   

(2) A member must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal interest or change to 

any personal interest registered under in paragraph (1), register that new personal interest or change 

by providing written notification to the authority’s monitoring officer. 

(3) Sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) do not apply to sensitive information in relation to which the 

member has made an application under paragraph 13. 

Sensitive information 

13.—(1) Where a member considers that the availability for inspection by the public of 

information relating to any personal interest which, but for this paragraph, must be registered in 

the authority’s register of members’ interests creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that the 

member or a person who lives with him or her may be subjected to violence or intimidation (in 

this Code “sensitive information”), the member may, where the monitoring officer considers it 

appropriate,  not include that sensitive information on the register of members’ interests.  

(2) A member must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which 

leads him or her to believe that information excluded from the authority’s register of members’ 

interests is no longer sensitive information, notify the authority’s monitoring officer of this fact and 

register the information concerned in the authority’s register of members’ interests.  

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Order) 

The Order contains a model code of conduct as regards the conduct which is expected of 

members and co-opted members of relevant authorities in England and police authorities in 

England and Wales. Under section 51 of the Local Government Act 2000, each authority must 

adopt a code of conduct applying to its members and co-opted members which must incorporate 

any mandatory provisions of the model code. Under section 51(5) of that Act, where an authority 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

27

Page 52



does not adopt such a code within six months of the Order coming into force, the mandatory 

provisions of the model code will apply to the members of the authority until it does.  

Article 1 provides that this Order applies to relevant authorities in England and police 

authorities in England and Wales.  

Article 2 provides that a model code is set out in the Schedule to the Order, and states which of 

its provisions are mandatory.  

Article 3 revokes— 

the Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) (England) Order 2001(a); 

the Parish Councils (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001(b); 

the National Park and Broads Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) (England) Order 2001(c); 

the Police Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2001(d). 

These Orders continue to have effect in relation to allegations made before the date when the 

new code is adopted or applied to an authority. 

The disapplication of certain enactments made by these Orders continues to have effect. 

In the Schedule to the Order—

Paragraph 1 of the model code provides that the code applies whenever a member is acting in 

his or her official capacity, and that it does not apply in other circumstances unless otherwise 

indicated. Additionally, where a member is acting as a representative of his or her authority, he or 

she must continue to observe the authority’s code, unless he or she is subject to another relevant 

authority’s code, or unless (in relation to any other body) it conflicts with any other legal 

obligations.  

Paragraph 2 provides that members must treat others with respect and not do anything which 

compromises the impartiality of those who work for the authority or bully anyone or intimidate 

persons involved in code of conduct cases.  

Paragraph 3 provides that members must not without consent disclose confidential information 

they have acquired and must not prevent others from gaining access to information to which they 

are entitled.  

Paragraph 4 provides that in a member’s official capacity and in other circumstances, a 

member must not conduct himself or herself in a manner which could bring his or her authority 

into disrepute.  

Paragraph 5 provides that a member must not in his or her official capacity or in other 

circumstances use his or her position improperly to gain an advantage or confer a disadvantage 

and that when using or authorising the use of the authority’s resources, he or she must act in 

accordance with the authority’s requirements and must not permit those resources to be used for 

political purposes.  

Paragraph 6 provides that in reaching decisions a member must consider advice given by the 

chief finance officer and monitoring officer and must give reasons for decisions made.   

Paragraph 7 provides a list of matters which constitute a personal interest in a matter.  

Paragraph 8 provides that a member with a personal interest in a matter must disclose that 

interest at any meeting at which the matter is considered.  

                                                                                                                                                              

(a) S.I. 2001/3575. 

(b) S.I. 2001/3576. 
(c) S.I. 2001/3577. 

(d) S.I. 2001/3578. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

28

Page 53



Paragraph 9 provides that a member with a personal interest also has a prejudicial interest if the 

interest could be regarded by a member of the public as so significant that it is likely to prejudice 

his judgement of the public interest. The paragraph provides that in the circumstances specified a 

member may regard himself as not having a prejudicial interest.  

Paragraph 10 provides that a member who was involved in making an executive decision on a 

matter must not be involved in the overview and scrutiny committee’s consideration of that matter, 

except in order to answer questions from that committee. 

Paragraph 11 provides that a member with a prejudicial interest must, unless he has obtained a 

dispensation, withdraw from any meetings at which the matter is being considered, and must not 

improperly influence decisions in relation to the matter.  

Paragraph 12 provides that a member must notify the monitoring officer of the personal 

interests and any change to those interests must also be notified. 

Paragraph 13 provides that a member may notify the monitoring of any sensitive information 

the availability of which to the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that the member 

or a person who lives with him or her may be subjected to violence or intimidation. 

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

29

Page 54



Annex B

Your views

We would welcome your views on the issues covered by this consultation paper and
any other comments and suggestions you may have. 

Questions

The specific questions which feature throughout the text of this paper are reproduced
for ease of reference:

Q1. Does the proposed text on the disclosure of confidential information strike an
appropriate balance between the need to treat certain information as confidential,
but to allow some information to be made public in defined circumstances when to
do so would be in the public interest?

Q2. Subject to powers being available to us to refer in the code to actions by
members in their private capacity beyond actions which are directly relevant to the
office of the member, is the proposed text which limits the proscription of activities in
a member’s private capacity to those activities which have already been found to be
unlawful by the courts, appropriate? 

Q3. Is the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity serving a
useful purpose? If the Publicity Code is abolished, do consultees think some or all of
its provisions should be promulgated in a different way, eg via guidance issued by
local government representative bodies, or should authorities be left to make their
own decisions in this area without any central guidance? Should authorities not
currently subject to the Publicity Code be required to follow it, or should the current
position with regard to them be maintained?   

Q4. Does the proposed text with regard to gifts and hospitality adequately combine
the need for transparency as well as proportionality in making public information
with regard to personal interests? 

Q5. Does the proposed text relating to friends, family and those with a close personal
association adequately cover the breadth of relationships which ought to be covered,
to identify the most likely people who might benefit from decisions made by a
member, including family, friends, business associates and personal acquaintances? 

Q6. Would it be appropriate for new exceptions to be included in the text as
additions to the list of items which are not to be regarded as prejudicial?

Q7. Is the proposed text relaxing the rules to allow increased representation at
meetings, including where members attend to make representations, answer
questions, or give evidence, appropriate?  

30

Page 55



Q8. Is there a better, more user-friendly way of ensuring the text is gender-neutral, for
example, would consultees consider that amending the wording to say ‘you’ instead
of ‘he or she’ or ‘him or her’ would result in a clearer and more accessible code
for members?  

Comments should be sent by e-mail or post by 9 March 2007 to:

William Tandoh
Local Democracy Directorate
Department for Communities and Local Government
5/G10
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London
SW1E 5DU

william.tandoh@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Consultation on Amendements to the Model Code of Conduct for Local Authority Members

31

Page 56


	Agenda
	4 Minutes and Matters Arising
	7 Standards Board for England Bulletin
	8 Consultation Paper on Amendments to the Model Code of Conduct for Councillors
	STND_2007.03.05_Agenda Item 08_Model Code of Conduct_Appendix 1
	STND_2007.03.05_Agenda Item 08_Model Code of Conduct_Appendix 2


